Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-13-2014

Grant v. State Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 39207

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

FILED - COPY JUN 1 3 2014 Supreme Court. Court of Appeals. Entered on ATS by.

Nature of the Case

Woodrow Grant asks the Idaho Supreme Court to review the opinion of the Idaho Court of Appeals, 2014 Opinion No. 34 (Ct. App. Apr. 25, 2014) (hereinafter, Opinion). He submits that the Opinion, which affirmed the orders summarily dismissing his petition for relief without appointment of counsel, decided an issue of first impression in Idaho by holding that, even in light of recent United States Supreme Court decisions, there is no constitutional right to counsel in post conviction. That decision is also inconsistent with those recent decisions from the United States Supreme Court, which suggest that

there is a right to counsel in post conviction where the post conviction process is the first practical opportunity for a defendant to challenge the ineffectiveness of trial counsel.

Additionally, this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' decision to affirm the summary dismissal of Mr. Grant's petition without appointing counsel under Idaho's statutory framework was inconsistent with Idaho Supreme Court and Idaho Court of Appeals precedent. Notably, the Court of Appeals determined that the district court applied the wrong standard as it addressed Mr. Grant's request for an attorney. However, the majority decided to affirm the district court's decision denying counsel and summarily dismissing Mr. Grant's post conviction petition based on its own reweighing of Mr. Grant's allegations. In so doing, the majority fell victim to the same error it had found in the district court's analysis - it applied the wrong standard. Specifically, it did not review Mr. Grant's allegations in the light most favorable to him (i.e., considering the allegations as if they were true), but instead, determined that they were disproved or not otherwise supported in the record. Judge Lansing dissented on that point, and, applying the proper standard, opined that Mr. Grant had alleged the possibility of valid claims. As a result, Judge Lansing would have vacated the district court's orders and remanded the case for further proceedings with the assistance of counsel.

On review, this Court should vacate the district court's decisions denying counsel and summarily dismissing the petition and remand this case for further proceedings with the assistance of appointed counsel.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

Mr. Grant was incarcerated on three different convictions in three separate cases (aggravated battery, possession of methamphetamine, and domestic assault). (R., pp.1-2.) He timely petitioned for post-conviction relief with regard to each case. He alleged that his attorney had been deficient in multiple aspects of his representation at the trial level. (R., pp.2-4.) Mr. Grant set forth the facts supporting his allegations in his petition and attached an affidavit in support. (R., pp.2-7.) In addition, he filed a motion and affidavit in support of appointment of post-conviction counsel. (R., pp.9-11.) These documents were notarized. (R., pp.7, 11.) The record does not indicate that the State ever filed an answer or motion for summary dismissal. (See generally R.)

The district court subsequently issued a notice of intent to dismiss the post-conviction petition. (R., pp.23-49.) In that notice, it also denied Mr. Grant's request for the assistance of post-conviction counsel because, it asserted, he did not allege facts raising the possibility of a valid claim. (R., p.27.) It then articulated its reasons for dismissing his various claims. (R., pp.28-49.) The most prevalent of its rationales was that Mr. Grant had not presented any evidence other than his own allegations, which the district court described as conclusory, unsupported, or unsubstantiated. (R., pp.31, 37, 38, 39, 41, 43, 44, 46, 47, 48.) It also reasoned that Mr. Grant had not proven his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence, or otherwise produced sufficient or

¹ In regard to the aggravated battery charge, Mr. Grant had originally been placed on probation following a successful period of retained jurisdiction. (R., p.1.) That probation was subsequently revoked. (R., p.1.) Therefore, in regard to that case, his petition for post-conviction relief is only timely from the order revoking probation. In the other two cases, the petition was timely from the judgments of conviction. (See R., p.1.)

adequate facts to state a claim for relief.² (R., pp.37, 39, 40, 41, 48.) Along those same lines, the district court indicated that Mr. Grant needed to present facts which demonstrated the outcome of his case "would have been different but for his attorney's unprofessional errors," in order to survive summary dismissal. (See, e.g., R., pp.47; see also R., pp.95, 96, 106.)

Mr. Grant filed a motion to amend the petition and a response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss. (R., pp.50-60.) As before, his assertions were notarized. (R., p.60.) He alleged additional, more-specific facts that supported his various claims. (R., pp.52-60.) Those clarifications revealed that Mr. Grant was making two overarching arguments. First, he contended that his trial attorney had provided deficient and prejudicial performance. Specifically, he alleged his attorney had not moved for a change of venue or the district court judge's recusal, had not presented mitigating evidence concerning the impact of his mental condition, had not elicited testimony regarding the improper investigation of the underlying cases, had not informed him of his rights, pursuant to *Estrada v. State*, 143 Idaho 558, 561 (2006), and had not allowed him an opportunity to review the Presentence Investigation Report (hereinafter, PSI) or assisted him to object to information improperly included therein. (R., pp.52-59.)

Second, as to the two cases in which his petition was timely from the judgments of conviction, Mr. Grant contended his pleas were invalid. Specifically, he alleged: (1) he did not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently enter his guilty pleas because of his

² As a result of this perspective, the district court apparently did not regard the facts Mr. Grant alleged in his verified pleadings and affidavits as evidence that it could consider, or, at least, did not accept those factual allegations as true. (*See generally*, R., pp.23-49.)

attorney's improper assurances that he would receive concurrent sentences and the opportunity to participate in the rider program; and, (2) he was incompetent at the time he entered the plea due to a severe depressive episode caused by his bi-polar disorder. (R., pp.56-58.) Along with his response to the notice of intent to dismiss, Mr. Grant also renewed his request for appointment of post-conviction counsel. (R., p.59.) As part of that request he asserted that, in addition to the facts he had already alleged to be true, there was existing evidence he was unable to collect or present to the district court due to his incarceration, but which he claimed would provide additional support for his allegations. (See R., p.59.)

Nevertheless, the district court summarily dismissed Mr. Grant's petition for post-conviction relief. It asserted that Mr. Grant's response to the Notice of Intent to Dismiss "did not include any additional documents or affidavits." (R., p.86.) Again, as it went through Mr. Grant's specific allegations, the district court reasoned that he had not presented any evidence other than his own allegations, which it still considered to be conclusory, unsupported, or unsubstantiated. (R., pp.86, 90, 92, 95, 96, 98, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106.) It also continued to assert that Mr. Grant had not proven his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence, or otherwise produced sufficient or adequate facts to state a claim for relief. (R., pp.98, 100, 104.) Additionally, it decided that Mr. Grant needed to present facts which demonstrated "the outcome of his case would have been different" in order to survive summary dismissal. (R., p.106; see also R., pp.95, 96.) It also denied Mr. Grant's renewed motion for post-conviction counsel for the same reason it had before. (R., p.90.)

Mr. Grant subsequently filed a motion for reconsideration of the order dismissing his petition pursuant to I.R.C.P. 59(e) and 60(b). (R., pp.65-85.) Again, the document was verified by a notary public. (R., p.85.) In that motion, Mr. Grant alleged additional facts which supported several of his claims. (See R., pp.69-84.) Three months later, the district court determined that Mr. Grant had simply reiterated his prior allegations and that he did not argue that the district court had made any errors of law or fact in its initial decision, and so, it denied that motion. (R., p.115.) Mr. Grant filed a notice of appeal which is timely as to all the district court's decisions.³

On appeal, Mr. Grant argued that, in light of recent United States Supreme Court decisions, Idaho should recognize a due process right to counsel in post conviction. He also argued that, under Idaho's post conviction statutes, the district court's decision to summarily dismiss his petition without appointing counsel was erroneous because it applied the wrong standards in reaching that decision. The Court of Appeals held that there was no constitutional right to counsel in initial-review collateral proceedings, since there has been no express ruling to that effect from the United States Supreme Court. (Opinion, pp.2-3.) Reviewing the decision to deny counsel under Idaho's post conviction statutes, the Court of Appeals determined that the district court had, in fact, applied the wrong standards in reaching its decision to deny Mr. Grant counsel and summarily dismissing his petition for relief. Specifically, the Court of Appeals found that

³ The final judgment dismissing Mr. Grant's petition for post-conviction relief conforming with the requirements from the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure was entered on June 13, 2013, in response to the Idaho Supreme Court's order on that same date. I.A.R. 17(e)(2) allows that a notice of appeal filed prior to the entry of an appealable order will become valid upon the filing of the appealable judgment. *Weller v. State*, 146 Idaho 652, 653-54 (Ct. App. 2008). Therefore, Mr. Grant's September 21, 2011, notice of appeal is timely from the final judgment.

the district court improperly required Mr. Grant to present evidence proving his claims by a propensity of the evidence, rather than viewing those allegations in the light most favorable to Mr. Grant (*i.e.*, considering them as if they were true). (Opinion, p.6 n.4.) However, the Court of Appeals split on the proper result following its determination of error in that regard.

The majority decided that it could independently review Mr. Grant's allegations and affirm the order denying counsel and summarily dismissing the petition based the majority's own assessment of the validity of Mr. Grant's allegations. (See Opinion, pp.3-11.) To that end, it found that the record either disproved Mr. Grant's allegations (see, e.g., Opinion, pp.7, 10), or that those allegations were otherwise insufficiently articulated to present potentially viable claims (see, e.g., Opinion, pp.6-11). Judge Lansing dissented, finding that the allegations made by Mr. Grant, if accepted as true, raised the possibility of valid claims. (Opinion, pp.11-14, Lansing, J., dissenting in part.) As such, Judge Lansing would have vacated the decision denying Mr. Grant counsel and remanded the case for further proceedings with the assistance of counsel. (Opinion, p.14, Lansing, J., dissenting in part.)

Mr. Grant filed a timely petition for review from the Court of Appeals' Opinion.

ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Idaho Court of Appeals' Opinion affirming the summary dismissal of Mr. Grant's petition for post conviction relief without the appointment of counsel decides an issue of substance not yet addressed by the Idaho Supreme Court in a manner that is inconsistent with recent decisions from the United States Supreme Court.
- 2. Whether the majority opinion affirming the denial of Mr. Grant's motion for appointment of counsel and summarily dismissing his petition for relief under Idaho's statutory framework was inconsistent with Idaho Supreme Court and Idaho Court of Appeals precedent.
- 3. Whether the district court erred by not appointing Mr. Grant counsel under Idaho's statutory framework.
- 4. Whether the district court erred when it summarily dismissed Mr. Grant's petition for post-conviction relief without properly considering the undisputed factual allegations he made in his verified petition and affidavit in support of that petition.

ARGUMENT

١.

The Idaho Court Of Appeals' Opinion Affirming The Summary Dismissal Of Mr. Grant's Petition For Post Conviction Relief Without The Appointment Of Counsel Decides An Issue Of Substance Not Yet Addressed By The Idaho Supreme Court In A Manner That Is Inconsistent With Recent Decisions From The United States Supreme Court

A. Standard For Evaluating Petitions For Review

The Idaho Appellate Rules provide that petitions for review may be granted only "when there are special and important reasons" for doing so but, ultimately, the decision of whether to grant a given petition lies within the sound discretion of the Supreme Court. I.A.R. 118(b). This exercise of discretion is not completely unfettered. Rule 118(b) provides some factors which must be considered in evaluating any petition for review, including:

- Whether the Court of Appeals has decided a question of substance not yet decided by the Idaho Supreme Court;
- 2) Whether the Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with precedent from the Idaho Supreme Court or the United States Supreme Court;
- Whether the Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with its own prior decisions;

I.A.R. 118(b). In regard to the argument that there is a due process right to counsel during initial-review collateral proceedings, Mr. Grant contends that there are special and important reasons for review to be granted. First, the Court of Appeals has decided a question of substance not yet decided by the Idaho Supreme Court – whether, in light of recent United States Supreme Court decisions, there is a due process right to counsel in post conviction. See I.A.R. 118(b)(1). Second, the Court of Appeals' decision in that regard is inconsistent with those recent United States Supreme Court

decisions. See I.A.R. 118(b)(2). For those reasons, this Court should exercise its review authority in this case.

B. <u>Idaho Should Recognize A Constitutional Right To Counsel In Initial-Review Collateral Challenges To The Effectiveness Of Trial Counsel Under The State And Federal Constitutions</u>

As part of its promise of due process, the Fourteenth Amendment provides a right to counsel in certain situations. *See, e.g., Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 401 (1985) ("[W]hen a State opts to act in a field where its action has significant discretionary elements, it must nonetheless act in accord with the dictates of the Constitution—and, in particular, in accord with the Due Process Clause.") Mr. Grant contends that one such situation arises during initial-review collateral proceedings, such as when a petitioner raises a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for the first time in post conviction in Idaho. In fact, the United States Supreme Court recently suggested that there is a constitutional right to that effect:

Coleman had suggested, though without holding, that the Constitution may require States to provide counsel in initial-review collateral proceedings because "in [these] cases, . . . state collateral review is the first place a prisoner can present a challenge to his conviction." As Coleman noted, this makes the initial-review collateral proceeding a prisoner's "one and only appeal" as to an ineffective-assistance claim, and this may justify an exception to the constitutional rule that there is no right to counsel in collateral proceedings.

Martinez v. Ryan, 132 S. Ct. 1309, 1315 (2012) (quoting Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 755 (1991)).

However, the United States Supreme Court decided not to answer that question in *Martinez* because, "[w]hile petitioner frames the question in this case as a constitutional one, a more narrow, but still dispositive, formulation is whether a federal

habeas court may excuse a procedural default of an ineffective-assistance claim when the claim was not properly presented in state court due to an attorney's errors in an initial-review collateral proceeding." *Id.* at 1313. The Supreme Court concluded that, as a matter of equity, the federal courts could not procedurally default such claims. *See generally id.* As a result, the United States Supreme Court reversed that decision dismissing the *habeas* petition and remanded the case for a determination on the substantive issues raised: whether Mr. Martinez's post conviction counsel had been ineffective and whether his underlying claim (ineffective assistance of trial counsel) was substantial. *Id.* at 1320-21.

Nevertheless, it discussed the reasons why there may need to be a right to counsel in initial-review collateral proceedings which challenge the effectiveness of trial counsel for the first time. As the United States Supreme Court explained, there is a violation of the petitioner's Fourteenth Amendment rights when he is left without the assistance of counsel during his "one and only appeal." *Id.* at 1315 (citing *Douglas v. California*, 372 U.S. 353 (1963)). The Supreme Court pointed out that "[w]here . . . the initial-review collateral proceeding is the first designated proceeding for a prisoner to raise a claim of ineffective assistance at trial, the collateral proceeding is in many ways the equivalent of a prisoner's direct appeal as to the ineffective-assistance claim." *Id.* As such, "[w]ithout the help of an adequate attorney, a prisoner will have similar difficulties vindicating a substantial ineffective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim." *Id.*

For example, the Supreme Court explained that during such a "first-tier" proceeding, pro se petitioners "are generally ill equipped to represent themselves because they do not have a brief from counsel or an opinion of the court addressing

their claim of error." *Id.* at 1317 (quoting *Halbert v. Michigan*, 545 U.S. 605, 617 (2005)). Furthermore, the Supreme Court recognized that "[c]laims of ineffective assistance at trial often require investigative work and an understanding of trial strategy," implying that applicants for post-conviction relief often could not engage in that necessary investigation, but appointed counsel could.⁴ *Id.* As such, the United States Supreme Court concluded:

When the issue [of ineffective assistance of counsel] cannot be raised on direct review, . . . a prisoner asserting an ineffective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim in an initial-review collateral proceeding cannot rely on a court opinion or the prior work of an attorney addressing that claim. To present a claim of ineffective assistance at trial in accordance with the State's procedures, then, a prisoner likely needs an effective attorney.

Id. (citing Halbert, 545 U.S. at 619) (emphasis added). Based on all this language, it appears as though, given the chance, the United States Supreme Court will hold that the applicant has a constitutional right to the assistance of counsel during the initial-review collateral proceeding, particularly if that collateral proceeding is separate from the direct appeal. See id. at 1315-17. In fact, in his dissent, Justice Scalia pointed out that the practical effect of the Martinez ruling and actually establishing a constitutional

⁴ Mr. Grant specifically alleged that this was so in his case: "Because of [Mr.] Grant's status as an incarcerated individual, it is almost impossible for him to present evidence [as the district court is requiring]." (R., p.59.) Specifically, Mr. Grant asserted that he "I. [Is f]airly ignorant of the law and evidentiary requirements[;] II. Cannot go and collect paperwork and testimony in person[;] III. Is unsure of what evidence this Court would consider important and pertinent[;] IV. And is unable to properly write up a response that is adequate and up to the high standards this Court is accustomed to." (R., p.59.) As such, according to the United States Supreme Court, he "likely **needs** an effective attorney." *Martinez*, 132 S. Ct. at 1317 (emphasis added).

rule requiring appointment of counsel in collateral-review proceedings is, for all intents and purposes, the same.⁵ *Martinez*, 132 S. Ct. at 1321-22, 1327 (Scalia, J., dissenting).

It is true that *Martinez* was addressing a state system where there was a categorical bar to raising challenges to the effectiveness of trial counsel during the direct appeal process, and it is also true that Idaho does not employ such a system. However, the United States Supreme Court has determined that the rule from *Martinez* applies to states with systems like Idaho's: "a distinction between (1) a State that denies permission to raise the claim on direct appeal and (2) a State that in theory grants permission but, as a matter of procedural design and systematic operation, denies a meaningful opportunity to do so is a distinction without difference." *Trevino v. Thaler*, 133 S. Ct. 1911, 1921 (2013). Since, "as a matter of its structure, design, and operation," Idaho's judicial system "does not offer most defendants a meaningful opportunity to present a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel on direct appeal," the rule and analysis from *Martinez* applies against Idaho's post conviction system.⁶

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