## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-30-2013

## Grant v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39207

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

1.

## Grant Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Denying His Request For The Appointment Of Counsel

#### A. Introduction

Grant challenges the summary dismissal of his successive post-conviction petition and the denial of his request for counsel, contending the claims in his petition, considered either alone or in combination with his response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss, raised genuine issues of material fact entitling him to an evidentiary hearing or, at a minimum, raised the possibility of a valid claim entitling him to the appointment of post-conviction counsel. (Appellant's brief, pp.6-27. Grant's arguments fail. Application of the law to the facts supports the district court's determination that Grant's pleadings failed to establish even the possibility of a valid post-conviction claim. Grant has therefore failed to show error in either the denial of his request for counsel or the dismissal of his petition for post-conviction relief.<sup>1</sup>

A post-conviction claim is properly dismissed if the petitioner fails to present evidence sufficient to show a material issue of fact on which relief can be granted. Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 522-23, 164 P.3d 798, 802-03 (2007). Because this is a higher burden than demonstrating the possibility of a valid claim necessitating the appointment of counsel, <u>Judd v. State</u>, 148 Idaho 22, 24, 218 P.3d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2009), <u>Melton v. State</u>, 148 Idaho 339, 345, 223 P.3d 281, 287 (2009), the remainder of this section of the Respondent's brief will focus on the "possibility of a valid claim" standard on the assumption that if Grant did not show entitlement to counsel the dismissal of his claims is proper, but that if he did show entitlement to counsel then dismissal without the opportunity of counsel to appear was error.

#### B. Standard Of Review

A request for appointment of counsel in a post-conviction proceeding is governed by I.C. § 19-4904. The decision to grant or deny a request for courtappointed counsel lies within the discretion of the district court. Charboneau v. State, 140 Idaho 789, 792, 102 P.3d 1108, 1111 (2004); Hust v. State, 147 Idaho 682, 683, 214 P.3d 668, 669 (Ct. App. 2009). The court's discretion is not unfettered, however. If the petitioner qualifies financially and "alleges facts showing the possibility of a valid claim that would require further investigation on the defendant's behalf," the court must appoint post-conviction counsel to assist the petitioner in developing his or her claims. Swader v. State, 143 Idaho 651, 654, 152 P.3d 12, 15 (2007); Charboneau, 140 Idaho at 793, 102 P.3d at 1112. If, on the other hand, the claims in the petition are so patently frivolous that there appears no possibility that they could be developed into a viable claim even with the assistance of counsel and further investigation, the court may deny the request for counsel and proceed with the usual procedure for dismissing meritless post-conviction petitions. Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 529, 164 P.3d 798, 809 (2007); Hust v. State, 147 Idaho 682, 684, 214 P.3d 668, 670 (Ct. App. 2009).

When a motion for the appointment of counsel is presented, the abuse of discretion standard as applied to I.C. § 19-4904 "permits the trial court to determine whether the facts alleged are such that they justify the appointment of counsel; and, in determining whether to do so, every inference must run in the petitioner's favor where the petitioner is unrepresented at that time and cannot be

expected to know how to properly allege the necessary facts." Charboneau, 140 Idaho at 793-94, 102 P.3d at 1112-13. In reviewing the denial of a motion for appointment of counsel in post-conviction proceedings, "[t]his Court will not set aside the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. As to questions of law, this Court exercises free review." Brown v. State, 135 Idaho 676, 678, 23 P.3d 138, 140 (2001) (quoted in Charboneau, 140 Idaho at 792, 102 P.3d at 1111).

## C. <u>Grant Has Failed To Show That He Was Entitled To The Appointment Of Post-Conviction Counsel</u>

Grant asserts on appeal that the district court erred by denying his motion for appointment of counsel because he "made the necessary showing to require appointment of counsel as he alleged facts supporting some of the elements of his claims for relief." (Appellant's brief, p.6.) Grant also argues the court violated his constitutional right to due process by failing to appoint post-conviction counsel because "the post-conviction action was [his] first opportunity to present these issues, particularly his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel." (Appellant's brief, p.6.) Grant's arguments are unfounded.

## 1. Grant Does Not Have A Constitutional Right To The Appointment Of Counsel In A Post-Conviction Proceeding

Idaho law does not grant a post-conviction petitioner an absolute right to counsel. Rather, counsel may be denied for frivolous claims. I.C. § 19-4904; Charboneau, 140 Idaho at 793-94, 102 P.3d at 1112-13. Grant asserts on appeal that the district court erred by applying Idaho law in denying the

appointment of post-conviction counsel because he had a due process right to be represented by counsel "since the post-conviction action was Mr. Grant's first opportunity to present these issues, particularly his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel." (Appellant's brief, p.6.) Although he concedes "[t]he question of whether there is such a due process right has yet to be decided by the United States Supreme Court," Grant urges this Court to find /Idaho law regarding the appointment of counsel unconstitutional because he has an absolute constitutional right to post-conviction counsel. (See generally, Appellant's brief, pp.6-13.) Grant relies on the United States Supreme Court case Martinez v. Ryan, 132 S.Ct. 1309 (2012), for his contention that there should be a due process right to counsel in state post-conviction cases although he recognizes the Court "did not completely resolve that question." (See generally, Appellant's brief, pp.7-13.) Grant's reliance on Martinez is misplaced and his request for remand on this basis should be rejected.

At issue in Martinez was "whether a federal habeas court may excuse a procedural default of an ineffective-assistance of counsel claim when the claim was not properly presented in state court due to an attorney's errors in an initial-review collateral proceeding." 132 S.Ct. at 1313. In resolving this issue, the Court held, "Where, under state law, claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel must be raised in an initial-review collateral proceeding, a procedural default will not bar a federal habeas court from hearing a substantial claim of ineffective assistance at trial if, in the initial-review collateral proceeding, there was no counsel or counsel in that proceeding was ineffective." Martinez, 132

S.Ct. at 1320. <u>Martinez</u> clearly has no relevance here not only because this is not a federal habeas proceeding, but also because <u>Martinez</u> has no application in Idaho since, unlike the Arizona law at issue in <u>Martinez</u>, Idaho does not categorically bar defendants from raising ineffective assistance of counsel claims on direct appeal, <u>see Smith v. State</u>, 146 Idaho 822, 834, 203 P.3d 1221, 1233 (2009).

Grant has failed to establish the district court erred by applying Idaho law to his request for post-conviction counsel.

### 2. The District Court Correctly Denied Grant's Request For Counsel Under Idaho Law

Grant next asserts that even if this Court declines to find an absolute constitutional right to post-conviction counsel, the district court still erred in denying his request for the appointment of counsel under Idaho law because he "demonstrated the potential of a valid post-conviction claim." (Appellant's brief, p.13.) Grant has failed to show any basis for the reversal of the order denying his request for counsel because, as the district court correctly concluded, the allegations in Grant's petition for post-conviction failed to raise even the possibility of a valid claim.

In analyzing Grant's request for the appointment of post-conviction counsel, the court cited the correct legal standard (see R., pp.24-27) before concluding Grant's allegations were frivolous and Grant failed to allege facts raising the possibility of a valid claim (R., p.27). The court specifically stated:

Based on the following findings, the Court hereby DENIES the Petitioner's Motion for Appointment of counsel, as the

allegations made by the Petitioner are frivolous for the reasons stated herein. Furthermore, this Court finds the Petitioner did not allege facts raising even the possibility of a valid claim. Therefore, the appointment of counsel is not required.

(R., p.27 (capitalization original).) Grant has failed to show he presented a viable claim of post-conviction relief, and has therefore failed to show error in the denial of his request for counsel.

3. Grant Has Failed To Establish A *Prima Facie* Case That His Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing To Advise Him Of His Right To Remain Silent During The Psychosexual Evaluation

In order to establish a *prima facie* claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a post-conviction petitioner must demonstrate both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); State v. Charboneau, 116 Idaho 129, 137, 774 P.2d 299, 307 (1989). An attorney's performance is not constitutionally deficient unless it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness, and there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct is within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Gibson v. State, 110 Idaho 631, 634, 718 P.2d 283, 286 (1986); Davis v. State, 116 Idaho 401, 406, 775 P.2d 1243, 1248 (Ct. App. 1989). To establish prejudice, a defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 761, 760 P.2d 1174, 1177 (1988); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 685, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999).

A post-conviction petitioner may demonstrate that his counsel was ineffective where counsel failed to inform him of his right to silence in relation to a psychosexual evaluation prepared for sentencing and the petitioner was

prejudiced. <u>Estrada v. State</u>, 143 Idaho 558, 564-565, 149 P.3d 833, 839-840 (2006). Bare assertions and speculation, unsupported by specific facts, do not make out a *prima facie* case for ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Roman v. State</u>, 125 Idaho 644, 649, 873 P.2d 898, 903 (Ct. App. 1994). If the claims in the petition are so patently frivolous that there appears no possibility that they could be developed into a viable claim even with the assistance of counsel and further investigation, the court may deny the request for counsel and proceed with the usual procedure for dismissing meritless post-conviction petitions. <u>Workman v. State</u>, 144 Idaho 518, 529, 164 P.3d 798, 809 (2007); <u>Hust v. State</u>, 147 Idaho 682, 684, 214 P.3d 668, 670 (Ct. App. 2009).

Grant asserts his counsel failed to "advise, attend, or protect [his] interests during the psych-evaluation." (R., p.3.) Further, Grant claims he "alleged facts [in his petition for post-conviction relief] which demonstrated a possibly valid claim that his attorney's performance was deficient" in failing to "advise him about his *Estrada* rights in regard to the psychological evaluation conducted as a part of the presentence investigation." (Appellant's brief, p.15 (citation omitted).) The facts alleged by Grant in his petition were simply that he was not made aware that he "was not obligated to provide information that would be used against him." (R., p.3.) The allegation that he was not advised of his rights, without more, does not show deficient performance or resulting prejudice. Although Grant asserted in his response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss his petition for post-conviction relief that he was never informed that he was not required to participate in the psychological evaluation (R., p.54), Grant

"presented no admissible evidence to demonstrate his counsel failed to advise him properly regarding his rights prior to his participation in the psychological examination." (R.,p. 98.) Additionally, the district court found upon review of Grant's guilty plea questionnaire that Grant understood his right to remain silent, his right to refuse to provide incriminating information, and that his attorney "had advised him that he had 'a constitutional right not to submit to a court ordered psychosexual evaluation for purposes of sentencing." (R., p.98.)

Finally, Grant does not even claim that being fully informed would have changed his choices in relation to his participation in the evaluation. The district court did not err in concluding that Grant's claims were disproved by the record and conclusory and therefore Grant failed to set forth the possibility of a valid claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the issue of failing to advise of his rights as they related to his submission to the psychological examination.

# 4. Grant Has Not Shown The District Court Erred In Dismissing His Claim Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel For Failing To Protect Grant's Interests As Relating To His PSI

Grant asserted in his petition for post-conviction relief that his counsel failed to "advise, attend, or protect [his] interests during the Pre-Sentence Investigation." (R., p.3.) Grant claims he was deprived of the opportunity to challenge, explain, or rebut the information in his PSI because his "attorney had failed to review the PSI with him or to assist him in challenging erroneously-included or otherwise unreliable information contained therein." (Appellant's brief, p.21.) Grant takes the position on appeal that such failure was objectively

unreasonable and the allegation of such demonstrates the prejudice of counsel's performance. (Id.)

Nowhere in Grant's petition for post-conviction relief, accompanying affidavit, or response to the court's notice does he assert what erroneous information was contained within his PSI or used against him at sentencing. Grant's unsupported statement that counsel deprived him of the right to challenge erroneous information alone is insufficient to establish deficient performance or resulting prejudice. Because this claim is frivolous, the district court did not err by denying counsel.

# 5. Grant Has Not Made a *Prima Facie* Case For The Claim Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel For Failure To Provide Mitigating Evidence At Sentencing

In his petition for post-conviction relief, Grant alleged his counsel "failed to provide the sentencing court with mitigating evidence and evidence conflicting the victim's allegations despite such evidence being available[.]' (R., p.3.) In his accompanying affidavit, Grant asserted his victim had a "history of self-abuse" and had "threatened to blame [him] for injuries that were self-inflicted." (R., p.5.) Further, Grant stated the victim had "behavioral problems" and "brushes with the law" that had been "covered up." (Id.) Grant support these blanket statements with no admissible evidence. Grant claims he identified the evidence he believed trial counsel failed to offer in mitigation at his sentencing in his response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss his petition for post-conviction relief:

Specifically, he alleged that there were two witnesses, one of whom would have contradicted the victim's version of events and who would have testified as to the overall inadequacies of the investigation, and another who would have testified that the police had "'lost' testimony" or other evidence that should have been presented to the district court.

(Appellant's brief, p.22 (citation omitted).) In his response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss his petition for post-conviction relief, Grant also included his attorney's failure to provide "mental health record from public and private institutions" as evidence of ineffective assistance of counsel for not providing adequate mitigation information to the sentencing court. (R., p.55.)

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